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COUNT _ONE

The Grand Jury charges:

Conspi racy

The Rel evant Parties and Entities

1. Except as otherwi se noted, at all tines rel evant
to this Indictnment:

a. Dormecq I nporters, Inc. ("Domecq |nporters")
was a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of
New York. Domecq Inporters inported and distributed several
brands of al coholic beverages, including Sauza tequila and
Presidente brandy. Donecq Inporters had its headquarters in
Larchnmont, New York until approxi mately January 1991, when it
noved themto A d G eenw ch, Connecticut.

b. Bef ore on or about May 18, 1994, Donecq
| nporters was directly owned by M CHAEL DOVECQ t he defendant,

and by two entities controlled by nenbers of the Donecq



famly. On or about May 18, 1994, Allied-Lyons PLC ("Alli ed-
Lyons"), a nulti-national corporation based in Engl and,
purchased Donecq | nporters and other related conpanies. Later
in or about 1994, Allied-Lyons changed its nanme to Allied
Donmecqg PLC ("Allied Donmecq"). Allied Donmecq Spirits & Wnes
was the North Anerican corporate branch of Allied Donecq.
Follow ng its acquisition by Allied-Lyons, Donecq |nporters
remai ned a separate corporation, which was operated as part of
Al lied Donecq's North Anmerican branch.

C. M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant, was the
presi dent and chi ef executive of Domecq I nporters until
approxi mately 1995, when he becane the president of Allied
Donecq Spirits & Wne, Latin Arerica. M CHAEL DOVECQ was a
resident of G eenw ch, Connecticut. As president and chief
executive of Donmecq Inporters, M CHAEL DOVECQ was responsi bl e
for selecting and contracting with whol esal ers, distributors,
bottlers, vendors of advertising and display materials and
services, and vendors of other services. Along with other
executives at Donecq | nporters, M CHAEL DOVECQ control |l ed
funds that Donmecq | nporters had allocated for the sale and for
the marketing and pronotion of its various brands.

The Tax Conspiracy




2. Fromin or about 1989 up to and including on or
about Cctober 15, 1995, in the Southern District of New York
and el sewhere, M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant, together with
co-conspirators Gabriel Sagaz, Thomas Kam nsky, and Al fredo
Val des, not named as defendants herein, and other persons
known and unknown, unlawfully, wllfully, and know ngly did
conbi ne, conspire, confederate, and agree together and with
each other to defraud the United States of Anmerica, and an
agency thereof, to wit, the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS")
of the United States Departnent of Treasury, and to commt
of fenses against the United States, to wit, violations of
Sections 7201, 7206(1), and 7206(2) of Title 26, United States
Code.

The hjects of the Tax Conspiracy

3. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy
that M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant, and his co-conspirators,
woul d and did defraud the United States and the I RS by
i npedi ng, inpairing, defeating, and obstructing the |awful
governnmental functions of the IRS in the ascertainnment,
eval uati on, assessnent, and collection of inconme taxes due
from M CHAEL DOVECQ, other individuals, and various entities
by (a) inpeding and inpairing scrutiny by the IRS of the true

nature of paynents nade by Donmecq Inporters to certain third



parties; and (b) inpeding and inpairing scrutiny by the IRS of
the true nature of paynents nade by certain third parties to
nunmerous entities controlled by M CHAEL DOMVECQ and his co-
conspirators.

4. It was a further part and an object of the
conspiracy that M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant, and his co-
conspirators, would and did attenpt to evade and defeat a
substantial part of the inconme tax due and owing to the United
States by M CHAEL DOVECQ and others, in violation of Title 26
United States Code, Section 7201.

5. It was a further part and an object of the
conspiracy that M CHAEL DOVECQ the defendant, unlawfully,
willfully, and know ngly would and did make and subscribe to
U.S. Individual Inconme Tax Returns, Fornms 1040, for the tax
years 1989, 1990, 1991, 1992, 1993, and 1994, which returns
contained and were verified by witten declarations that they
were made under penalties of perjury, and which incone tax
returns M CHAEL DOMECQ did not believe to be true and correct
as to every material matter, insofar as each return
substantially understated the true total inconme of M CHAEL
DOMECQ and his spouse, and al so denied that M CHAEL DOVECQ and
his spouse had any interest in any foreign bank accounts, in

violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(1).



6. It was a further part and an object of the
conspiracy that M CHAEL DOVECQ the defendant, and his co-
conspirators, unlawfully, willfully, and know ngly would and
did
aid and assist in, procure, counsel, and advise the
preparation and presentation under, and in connection with
matters arising under the Internal Revenue |aws, of Donecq
| mporters’ U. S. Corporation Income Tax Returns, Fornms 1120,
for tax years 1989 through 1994, that were fal se and
fraudulent as to material matters, in violation of Title 26,
United States Code, Section 7206(2).

The Means and ©Met hods of the Tax Conspiracy

Anmong t he nmeans and net hods by whi ch M CHAEL DOVECQ
t he defendant, and his co-conspirators, would and did carry
out the conspiracy were the foll ow ng:

7. At some time prior to in or about 1989, M CHAEL
DOVECQ, the defendant, nmet with Al fredo Val des, Donecq
| mporters' chief financial officer, and agreed to divert noney
from Domecq I nporters as additional inconme to thensel ves which
t hey woul d conceal fromthe IRS. Later they enlisted the
assi stance of one or nore entities that did business with
Domecqg | nporters, including wholesalers, distributors,

bottlers, vendors of advertising and display materials and



services, and vendors of other services (collectively the
"Qut si de Vendors").

8. I n or about 1990, M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant,
and Valdes invited Gabriel Sagaz and Thomas Kam nsky to join
the schene. Sagaz was Donecq | nporters’ vice president for
mar keti ng, and Kam nsky was Domecq | nporters’ vice president
for sales. Sagaz and Kam nsky agreed to participate.

9. M CHAEL DOMECQ the defendant, participated in
this scheme fromin or about 1989 until in or about Septenber
1995. During that period, M CHAEL DOVECQ and the three other
seni or executives of Donecq |Inporters who participated in this
schenme diverted approximately $14.6 nmillion out of Domecq
| mporters and into accounts under the conspirators' control.
Al'l, or substantially all, of such funds were conceal ed from
the I RS

10. M CHAEL DOVECQ the defendant, and his co-
conspirators Val des, Sagaz, and Kam nsky (hereinafter the
"Executive Co-Conspirators”) enployed several nethods to
di vert noney out of Donecq |Inporters, and to conceal the noney
fromthe IRS. Anmong these nethods were the foll ow ng:

a. Fromin or about 1989 up to and i ncl udi ng
in or about Septenber 1995, M CHAEL DOVECQ the defendant, and

t he Executive Co-Conspirators arranged for certain CQutside



Vendors to receive funds in the formof checks or wire
transfers from Donecq I nporters. At the direction of M CHAEL
DOMECQ and t he Executive Co-Conspirators, the Qutside Vendors
t hen di sbursed the funds, or a portion thereof, by mailing or
ot herwi se delivering either to M CHAEL DOVECQ or to one of the
Executi ve Co- Conspirators checks nade payable to fictitious
third-party entities controlled by M CHAEL DOVECQ and t he
Executive Co-Conspirators, or transferring funds by wire
directly to the fictitious third-party entities. To nmake

t hese transactions appear to relate to the legitimte business
of Donecq Inporters and the Qutside Vendors, M CHAEL DOVECQ
and the Executive Co-Conspirators caused Donecq | nporters and
the Qutside Vendors to issue various fal se and fraudul ent
docunents, including false purchase orders and invoices.

These docunents were designed to nmake it appear that the
Qut si de Vendors had purchased goods and services fromthe
fictitious third-party entities and then resold those goods
and services to Donecq Inporters. In fact, however, neither
the Qutside Vendors nor the fictitious third-party entities
actual ly provided any goods or services in relation to these
transactions. M CHAEL DOMECQ and t he Executive Co-
Conspirators caused the funds that the Qutside Vendors paid to

the fictitious third-party entities to be deposited into



of f shore bank accounts they controlled for personal purposes.
M CHAEL DOMECQ and t he Executive Co-Conspirators then shared
in the proceeds.

b. M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant, and the
Executive Co-Conspirators also diverted noney from Donecq
| mporters by entering into arrangenments with one or nore of
the Qutside Vendors that bottled al coholic beverages for
Domecq I nporters (the "Bottlers"). Under these arrangenents,
M CHAEL DOMECQ and certain of the Executive Co-Conspirators
instructed the Bottlers to charge Donmecq | nporters an
addi tional per case "fee." M CHAEL DOVECQ and the Executive
Co- Conspirators then caused Donecq |Inporters to pay this
additional "fee" to the Bottlers, and instructed the Bottlers
to pay a corresponding "conm ssion” to fictitious third-party
entities that M CHAEL DOMVECQ and the Executive Co-Conspirators
designated. The fictitious third-party entities did not
provi de any goods or services in relation to these
transactions. M CHAEL DOMECQ and t he Executive Co-
Conspirators caused the majority of the "conm ssions”
generated in this manner to be deposited into of fshore bank
accounts they controlled for their personal purposes.

C. M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant, and the

Executive Co-Conspirators al so diverted noney from Donecq



| nporters by causing Donecq Inporters to send funds to one of
its bottlers and to one of its wholesale distributors, on the
fal se and fraudul ent pretense that these funds woul d be used
to pronote Domecq I nporters’ brands in conpliance with

regul ations issued by the Bureau of Al cohol, Tobacco &
Firearns. M CHAEL DOVECQ and t he Executive Co-Conspirators
then directed the bottler and the whol esale distributor to
issue their own checks to fictitious third-party entities that
M CHAEL DOMECQ and the Executive Co-Conspirators controll ed.
In fact, the bottler and the whol esal e distributor did not
provi de any pronotional services to Donmecq Inporters in
connection with these transactions. Rather, M CHAEL DOVECQ
and the Executive Co-Conspirators caused nmuch of the
"pronotional” noney received fromthe bottler and the

whol esal e distributor to be deposited into offshore bank
accounts they controlled for their personal purposes.

Tax Consequences of the Fraud

11. Through the creation of fraudulent, inflated,
and fictitious invoices, and the use of offshore bank
accounts, M CHAEL DOMVECQ the defendant, and his co-
conspirators inpeded and inpaired the RS s scrutiny of (a)
the U. S. Individual Income Tax Returns, Forms 1040, filed by

M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant, and the Executive Co-



Conspirators, as well as the U S. Corporation Inconme Tax
Returns, Forns 1120, filed by Domecq Inporters; (b) the true
nature of paynents nade by Donmecq Inporters to certain third
parties; and (c) the true nature of paynents made by certain
third parties to a variety of entities controlled by M CHAEL
DOMVECQ, the defendant, and the Executive Co-Conspirators.

Mor eover, M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant, did not report his
recei pt of any portion of the noney diverted out of Donecq

| mporters on his and his spouse's U.S. Individual |Inconme Tax
Returns, Forns 1040, and the Executive Co-Conspirators did not
report their receipt of nost, if not all, of the noney

di verted out of Donmecq Inporters on their U S. |ndividual

I ncone Tax Returns. |In addition, the tax returns of Donecq

| nporters inproperly deducted as busi ness expenses the anpunts
of the fraudulent transactions with the Qutside Vendors. As a
result, these tax returns substantially underreported the
taxabl e i ncome and the correct anobunt of tax due and ow ng
fromthe corporation, MCHAEL DOVECQ the defendant, and the
Executive Co-Conspirators.

Overt Acts

12. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect

its illegal objects, MCHAEL DOVECQ the defendant, and his

10



co-conspirators commtted the foll ow ng overt acts, anong
others, in the Southern District of New York and el sewhere:

a. On or about February 21, 1990, one of the
Executive Co-Conspirators received froman Qutside Vendor a
check made payable to "Warwick Inc." in the anount of $54, 037.

b. On or about Decenmber 28, 1993, an Qutside
Vendor | ocated in New York, New York, sent one of the
Executive Co-Conspirators a check made payable to "The Wnston
G oup” in the anmobunt of $44, 550.

C. On or about Septenber 8, 1994, M CHAEL
DOMVECQ, the defendant, and his spouse filed a U S. | ndividual
| ncome Tax Return, Form 1040, for the cal endar year 1993,
which failed to report all of his 1993 inconme fromthe schene
described in this Count, and thereby substantially
underreported the correct tax due and ow ng.

d. On or about January 4, 1994, an CQutside
Vendor | ocated in New York, New York, sent one of the
Executive Co-Conspirators a check made payable to "The Wnston
G oup” in the amount of $129, 600.

e. On or about Cctober 15, 1995, M CHAEL
DOMVECQ, the defendant, and his spouse filed a U S. | ndividual
| ncome Tax Return, Form 1040, for the cal endar year 1994,

which failed to report all of his 1994 inconme fromthe schene

11



described in this Count, and thereby substantially
underreported the correct tax due and ow ng.
f. On or about February 18, 1995, an Qutside
Vendor sent one of the Executive Co-Conspirators a check made
payable to "G upo Veracruz" in the anount of $143, 325.
g. On or about August 29, 1995, an CQutside
Vendor sent one of the Executive Co-Conspirators a check made
payable to "Premni ere Mal donado" in the anount of $288,997. 50.
(Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.)
COUNT _TWO
The Grand Jury further charges:

Conspiracy to Defraud Al lied Donecqg

13. Paragraphs 1 and 7 through 10 of this
I ndi ct ment are repeated, reincorporated, and realleged as if
fully set forth herein.

14. Fromon or about May 18, 1994, through and
including in or about Septenber 1995, in the Southern District
of New York and el sewhere, M CHAEL DOVECQ the defendant,
together with co-conspirators Gabriel Sagaz, Thomas Kam nsky,
and Al fredo Val des, not named as defendants herein, and other
per sons known and unknown, unlawfully, wllfully, and
knowi ngly did conbine, conspire, confederate, and agree

together and with each other to commt offenses against the

12



United States, to wit, violations of Sections 1341 and 1346 of
Title 18, United States Code.

The hjects of the Conspiracy
to Defraud Allied Donecq

15. It was a part and object of the conspiracy that
M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant, and his co-conspirators,
unlawful Iy, willfully, and know ngly, having devised and
intending to devise a schenme and artifice to defraud and for
obt ai ni ng noney and property fromAllied Donecq by nmeans of
fal se and fraudul ent pretenses, representations, and prom ses,
for the purpose of executing such schenme and artifice, and
attenpting to do so, would and did place in post offices and
aut hori zed depositories for mail matter, matters and things to
be sent and delivered by the Postal Service, and deposit such
matters and things to be sent and delivered by private and
commercial interstate carriers, and take and receive therefrom
such matters and things, and knowi ngly cause such matters and
things to be delivered by mail and such carriers according to
the directions thereon, in violation of Title 18, United
States Code, Sections 1341 and 1346.

The Means and ©Met hods of the
Conspiracy to Defraud Al lied Donecqg

13



Anmong t he means and net hods by which M CHAEL DOMVECQ
t he defendant, and his co-conspirators, would and did carry
out the conspiracy were the foll ow ng:

16. Initially, the diversion of funds from Donecq
| nporters by M CHAEL DOVECQ the defendant, and the Executive
Co- Conspirators, described in Paragraphs 9 and 10 of Count One
of this Indictnent, was carried out with the know edge and
approval of one or nore senior executives within the worl dw de
Domecqg organi zation, including nmenbers of the Board of
Directors of Donecq Inporters. However, fromon or about My
18, 1994, when Allied-Lyons acquired Donecq | nporters, the
di version of funds by M CHAEL DOVECQ and his co-conspirators,
as described in Paragraphs 9 and 10 above, was done w t hout
t he know edge and consent of the public sharehol ders of Allied
Domecqg or the majority of the Board of Directors of Allied
Donecq, al though the diversion of funds was known and approved
by at | east one nenber of that Board. The total anount of
funds fraudulently diverted by M CHAEL DOVECQ and his co-
conspirators after on or about May 18, 1994, in the course of
t he schene charged in Count One of the Indictnent, was
approximately $3.1 mllion.

17. The mails or a commercial interstate carrier

were used in several ways to further the above-descri bed

14



schene. For exanple, the mails were used in connection with
t he diversion of funds from Donecq | nporters in that
fraudul ent purchase orders issued by Donmecq I nporters to the
CQut si de Vendors and fraudul ent invoices issued by the Qutside
Vendors to Donmecqg I nporters were sent through the nmails.

Mor eover, Donecq Inporters regularly mailed checks to the
Qut si de Vendors in paynent of the fraudulent invoices. In
addition, a commercial interstate carrier was used to convey
checks made payable to one of the fictitious third-party
entities fromthe Qutside Vendors either to M CHAEL DOVECQ

t he defendant, or one of the Executive Co-Conspirators, and to
convey checks either from M CHAEL DOMECQ or one of the
Executive Co-Conspirators, to the First National Bank of

Ar uba.

Overt Acts

18. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect
its illegal objects, MCHAEL DOVECQ the defendant, and his
co-conspirators commtted the foll owm ng overt acts, anong
others, in the Southern District of New York and el sewhere:

a. On or about August 24, 1994, an CQutside
Vendor, |ocated in New York, New York, sent to one of the

Executive Co-Conspirators, via a commercial interstate

15



carrier, a check nmade payable to "The Wnston G oup” in the
amount of $102, 600.

b. On or about February 18, 1995, an Qutside
Vendor sent to one of the Executive Co-Conspirators, via a
comercial interstate carrier, a check nmade payable to "G upo
Veracruz" in the anount of $143, 325.

C. On or about August 29, 1995, an CQutside
Vendor sent to one of the Executive Co-Conspirators, via a
commercial interstate carrier, a check made payable to
"Prem ere Mal donado"” in the amount of $288, 997. 50.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.)

COUNT _THREE

The Grand Jury further charges:

Mai | Fraud Against Allied Donecqg

19. Paragraphs 1, 7 through 10, and 16 and 17, of
this Indictnent are repeated, reincorporated, and reall eged as
if fully set forth herein.

20. Fromon or about May 18, 1994, through and
including in or about Septenber 1995, in the Southern District
of New York and el sewhere, M CHAEL DOVECQ the defendant,
together with co-conspirators Gabriel Sagaz, Thomas Kam nsky,
and Al fredo Val des, not named as defendants herein, and other

per sons known and unknown, unlawfully, wllfully, and

16



know ngly, having devised and intending to devise a schene and
artifice to defraud and for obtaining noney and property from
Al lied Donecq by neans of false and fraudul ent pretenses,
representations, and prom ses, for the purpose of executing
such schene and artifice, and attenpting to do so, did place
or cause to be placed in post offices and authorized
depositories for mail matter, matters and things to be sent
and delivered by the Postal Service, and deposit or cause to
be deposited such matters and things to be sent and delivered
by private and comrercial interstate carriers, and take and
recei ve therefromsuch matters and things, and know ngly cause
such matters and things to be delivered by mail and such
carriers according to the directions thereon, to wit, M CHAEL
DOVECQ, the defendant, and his co-conspirators, by causing the
use of the mails and comrercial interstate carriers
fraudul ently diverted approximately $3.1 million fromAllied
Donmecqg into personal accounts controlled by the defendant and
hi s co-conspirators.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 1346 and
2.)

COUNT FQUR

The Grand Jury further charges:

Money Launderi ng Conspiracy

17



21. Paragraphs 1, 7 through 10, and 16 and 17, of
this Indictnent are repeated, reincorporated, and reall eged as
if fully set forth herein.

22. Fromon or about May 18, 1994, until in or
about Septenber 1995, in the Southern District of New York and
el sewhere, M CHAEL DOMECQ, the defendant, together with co-
conspirators Gabriel Sagaz, Thomas Kam nsky, and Al fredo
Val des, not naned as defendants herein, and other persons
known and unknown, unlawfully, willfully, and know ngly did
conbi ne, conspire, confederate, and agree together and with
each other to commt an offense against the United States, to
wit, to violate Section 1956 of Title 18, United States Code.

23. It was a part and object of the conspiracy that
M CHAEL DOMECQ the defendant, and his co-conspirators, in an
of fense involving and affecting interstate and foreign
commer ce, know ng that the property involved in certain
financial transactions represented the proceeds of sone form
of unlawful activity, unlawfully, willfully, and know ngly
woul d and did conduct and attenpt to conduct such financi al
transactions which in fact involved the proceeds of specified
unl awful activity, to wt, the mail fraud schene to defraud
Al li ed Donecq, as described in Count Two of this Indictnent,

with intent to engage in conduct constituting violations of

18



Sections 7201, 7206(1), and 7206(2) of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, in violation of Section 1956(a)(1)(A)(ii) of
Title 18, United States Code,

24. 1t was a further part and an object of the
conspiracy that M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant, and his co-
conspirators, in an offense involving and affecting interstate
and foreign conmmerce, knowi ng that the property involved in
certain financial transactions represented the proceeds of
sonme formof unlawful activity, unlawfully, wllfully, and
knowi ngly would and did conduct and attenpt to conduct such
financial transactions which in fact involved the proceeds of
specified unlawful activity, to wit, the mail fraud schene to
defraud Al lied Donecq, as described in Count Two of this
| ndi ct ment, knowi ng that the transactions were designed in
whol e and in part to conceal and disguise the nature,
| ocation, source, ownership, and control of the proceeds of
specified unlawful activity, in violation of Section
1956(a)(1)(B)(i) of Title 18, United States Code.

Means and Met hods of the Money Laundering Conspiracy

a. M CHAEL DOVECQ the defendant, received a
portion of the approximately $3.1 million in diverted
corporate funds and "conm ssions” fromthe Qutside Vendors in

the formof checks and wire transfers nade payable to
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fictitious third-party entities controlled by M CHAEL DOVECQ
and the Executive Co-Conspirators. The paynents by the
Qut si de Vendors were nmade to accounts in the nane of the
W nston G oup, Gupo VeraCruz ("VeraCruz"), Prem er Ml donado
("Mal donado") and Baja Sur. The "comm ssion" paynents from
the Bottlers were made to accounts in the nanme of Fortraco
International ("Fortraco"). Each of these fictitious third-
party entities maintained an of fshore bank account. The
W nston G oup nai ntai ned account nunber 752500 at the First
Nat i onal Bank of Aruba (the "Wnston G oup Account").
VeraCruz and its successor Ml donado mmi ntai ned account nunber
797021 at the First National Bank of Aruba (the "VeraCruz
Account"). Baja Sur nmaintai ned account nunber 797022 at the
First National Bank of Aruba (the "Baja Sur Account").
Fortraco mai ntai ned account nunber 371050 at the First
Nat i onal Bank of Aruba (the "Fortraco Account™).

25. In the course of the conspiracy to defraud
Al'lied Donmecq outlined in Count Two of this Indictnent, the
Qut si de Vendors nmailed or sent by commercial interstate
carrier many of their checks either to M CHAEL DOVECQ the
defendant, or to another of the Executive Co-Conspirators, who
in turn sent the checks by mail or by commercial interstate

carrier to the First National Bank of Aruba. There, bank
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of ficers who were designated agents of the fictitious third-
party entities endorsed the checks and deposited theminto the
rel evant accounts. At various tines, one of the Executive Co-
Conspirators withdrew nonies fromthese accounts for his own
use and for distribution to M CHAEL DOVECQ and anong t he
Executive Co-Conspirators. To this end, the nonies were
usually transferred into other offshore accounts controlled by

M CHAEL DOVECQ or by the Executive Co-Conspirators.

Overt Acts
26. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect
the illegal objects thereof, M CHAEL DOVECQ the defendant,

and his co-conspirators, conmtted the follow ng overt acts,
anong others, in the Southern District of New York and
el sewher e:

a. On or about June 6, 1994, an Executive Co-
Conspi rator caused a check in the anmount of $208, 300, which
check had originally been mailed or sent by conmerci al
interstate carrier from New York, New York, to be deposited
into the Fortraco Account.

b. On or about June 13, 1994, an Executive Co-
Conspi rator caused a check in the anount of $200, 760 to be

deposited into the Wnston G oup Account.
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c. On or about June 28, 1994, an Executive Co-
Conspirator caused a check in the anount of $200,000 to be
deposited into the Fortraco Account.

d. On or about June 28, 1994, an Executive Co-
Conspirator caused a check in the anount of $68,720 to be
deposited into the Fortraco Account.

e. On or about June 29, 1994, an Executive Co-
Conspi rator caused $200,000 to be withdrawn fromthe Fortraco
Account, which funds were distributed to M CHAEL DOMECQ, the
def endant, and the Executive Co-Conspirator.

f. On or about August 24, 1994, an Qutside
Vendor mailed or sent by comrercial interstate carrier from
New Yor k, New York, a check in the anbunt of $102,600 to an
Executive Co-Conspirator who caused that check to be deposited
into the Wnston G oup Account.

g. On or about Septenber 12, 1994, at the
direction of an Executive Co-Conspirator, an Qutside Vendor,
| ocated in New York, New York, wire transferred $122,800 into
the Wnston G oup Account.

h. On or about Septenber 15, 1994, an Executive
Co- Conspi rator caused $220,000 to be withdrawn fromthe

W nston G oup Account, which funds were distributed to M CHAEL
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DOVECQ, the defendant, and two of the Executive Co-Conspirators.

i. On or about Septenber 22, 1994, an Executive
Co- Conspirator caused a check in the anount of $41,200 to be
deposited into the Veracruz Account.

j. On or about Septenber 23, 1994, an Executive
Co- Conspirator caused a check in the anount of $61,653 to be
deposited into the Fortraco Account.

k. On or about Septenber 23, 1994, an Executive
Co- Conspirator caused a check in the anount of $220,000 to be
deposited into the Fortraco Account.

. On or about Cctober 13, 1994, an Executive
Co- Conspi rator caused $275,000 to be withdrawn fromthe
Fortraco Account, which funds were distributed to M CHAEL
DOVECQ, the defendant, and the Executive Co-Conspirator.

m On or about Cctober 14, 1994, an Executive
Co- Conspirator caused a check in the anount of $173, 355, which
check had originally been mailed or sent by conmerci al
interstate carrier from New York, New York, to be deposited
into the Wnston G oup Account.

n. On or about Cctober 28, 1994, an Executive
Co- Conspi rator caused $170,000 to be withdrawn fromthe

W nston G oup Account, which funds were distributed to M CHAEL
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DOVECQ, the defendant, and two of the Executive Co-Conspirators.

0. On or about Decenber 16, 1994, an Executive
Co- Conspirator caused a check in the anount of $19,500 to be
deposited into the Veracruz Account.

p. On or about Decenber 18, 1994, an Executive
Co- Conspirator caused a check in the anount of $250,000 to be
deposited into the Fortraco Account.

g. On or about Decenber 18, 1994, an Executive
Co- Conspirator caused a check in the anount of $66,096 to be
deposited into the Fortraco Account.

r. On or about January 6, 1995, an Executive
Co- Conspi rator caused $310,000 to be withdrawn fromthe
Fortraco Account, which funds were distributed to M CHAEL
DOVECQ, the defendant, and the Executive Co-Conspirator.

S. On or about March 7, 1995, an Executive Co-
Conspi rator caused a check in the anount of $143, 325 to be
deposited into the VeraCruz Account.

t. On or about April 5, 1995, an Executive Co-
Conspi rator caused a check in the anount of $323,700 to be
deposited into the Fortraco Account.

u. On or about April 18, 1995, an Executive Co-
Conspirator caused a check in the anount of $42,300 to be

deposited into the Veracruz Account.
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V.
Conspi rat or caused
deposited into the
W.
Conspi rat or caused
deposited into the
X.
Conspi rat or caused
Account .
y.
Conspi rat or caused
deposited into the
z.
Conspi rat or caused
deposited into the
aa.
Conspi rat or caused
deposited into the

bb.

On or about April 21, 1995, an Executive Co-

a check in the anmbunt of $210, 000 to be
Fortraco Account.
On or about Apri

21, 1995, an Executive Co-

a check in the ambunt of $92,364 to be
Fortraco Account.
On or about Apri

25, 1995, an Executive Co-

$210,000 to be withdrawmn fromthe Fortraco
On or about July 20, 1995, an Executive Co-
a check in the amount of $54,560 to be
Fortraco Account.

On or about July 24, 1995, an Executive Co-
a check in the amunt of $150, 000 to be
Fortraco Account.

On or about July 24, 1995, an Executive Co-
a check in the amount of $73,978 to be
Fortraco Account.

On or about Septenber 3, 1995, an Executive

Co- Conspirator caused a check in the anount of $288, 997. 50,

whi ch check had originally been mailed or sent by commerci al

interstate carrier

from New York, New York, to be deposited

into the VeraCruz Account.
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cc. On or about Septenber 13, 1995, an
Executive Co-Conspirator caused $285,000 to be withdrawn from
t he VeraCruz Account, which funds were distributed to M CHAEL
DOVECQ the defendant, and two of the Executive Co-
Conspirators.
(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).)

COUNT _FI VE

The Grand Jury further charges:

Money Launderi ng

27. Paragraphs 1, 7 through 10, 16, 17, 25, and 26
of this Indictnent are repeated, reincorporated, and realleged
as if fully set forth herein.

28. Fromon or about May 18, 1994, until in or
about Septenber 1995, in the Southern District of New York and
el sewhere, M CHAEL DOMECQ, the defendant, together with co-
conspirators Gabriel Sagaz, Thomas Kam nsky, and Al fredo
Val des, not naned as defendants herein, and other persons
known and unknown, in an offense involving and affecting
interstate and foreign conmerce, knowi ng that the property
involved in certain financial transactions represented the
proceeds of sone formof unlawful activity, unlawfully,
willfully, and know ngly did conduct, attenpt to conduct, and

cause others to conduct such financial transactions which in
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fact involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, to
wit, the mail fraud schene to defraud Allied Donecq, as
described in Count Two of this Indictment, with intent to
engage in conduct constituting violations of Sections 7201,
7206(1), and 7206(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(ii) and
2).
COUNT_SI X
The Grand Jury further charges:

Money Launderi ng

29. Paragraphs 1, 7 through 10, 16, 17, 25, and 26
of this Indictnent are repeated, reincorporated, and realleged
as if fully set forth herein.

30. Fromon or about May 18, 1994, until in or
about Septenber 1995, in the Southern District of New York and
el sewhere, M CHAEL DOMECQ, the defendant, together with co-
conspirators Gabriel Sagaz, Thomas Kam nsky, and Al fredo
Val des, not naned as defendants herein, and other persons
known and unknown, in an offense involving and affecting
interstate and foreign comerce, know ng that the property
involved in certain financial transactions represented the
proceeds of sone formof unlawful activity, unlawfully,

willfully, and know ngly did conduct, attenpt to conduct, and
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cause others to conduct such financial transactions which in
fact involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, to
wit, the mail fraud schene to defraud Allied Donecqg, as
described in Count Two of this Indictnment, know ng that the
transactions were designed in whole and in part to conceal and
di sqgui se the nature, |ocation, source, ownership, and control
of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and
2).

COUNT SEVEN

The Grand Jury further charges:

| ncone Tax Evasi on

31. Paragraphs 1 and 7 through 10 of this
I ndi ct ment are repeated, reincorporated, and realleged as if
fully set forth herein.

32. Fromin or about January 1, 1994 through on or
about Cctober 15, 1995, in the Southern District of New York
and el sewhere, M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant, did unlawfully,
willfully, and knowi ngly attenpt to evade and defeat a | arge
part of the incone tax due and owi ng by himand his spouse to
the United States of Anmerica for the cal endar year 1994, by
vari ous nmeans, including anong others, preparing and causing

to be prepared, signing and causing to be signed, a false and
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fraudulent joint U S. Individual Income Tax Return, Form 1040,
for the cal endar year 1994, which was filed with the Internal
Revenue Service, on which return M CHAEL DOVECQ failed to
report as incone his share of the proceeds of the schene
described in Count One of this Indictnment, whereas, as M CHAEL
DOVECQ t hen and there well knew and believed, the true and
correct joint taxable inconme for that cal endar year was
substantially in excess of the specific sumreported, upon
whi ch addi tional taxable inconme there was due and owing to the
United States of Anerica substantial additional inconme tax.
(Title 26, United States Code, Section 7201.)

COUNT _EI GHT

The Grand Jury further charges:

| ncone Tax Evasi on

33. Paragraphs 1 and 7 through 10 of this
I ndi ct nent are repeated, reincorporated, and realleged as if
fully set forth in this Count.

34. Fromon or about January 1, 1993, through on or
about Septenber 8, 1994, in the Southern District of New York
and el sewhere, M CHAEL DOVECQ, the defendant, did unlawfully,
willfully, and knowi ngly attenpt to evade and defeat a | arge
part of the incone tax due and owi ng by M CHAEL DOVECQ and hi s

spouse to the United States of Anerica for the cal endar year
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1993, by various neans, including, anong others, preparing and
causing to be prepared, signing and causing to be signed, a

fal se and
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fraudulent joint U S. Individual |Income Tax Return, Form 1040,
which was filed with the Internal Revenue Service, on which
return M CHAEL DOVECQ failed to report as incone his share of
t he proceeds of the schene described in Count One of this

| ndi ct ment, whereas, as M CHAEL DOVECQ t hen and there well
knew and believed, the true and correct joint taxable incone
for that cal endar year was substantially in excess of the
specific sumreported, upon which additional taxable incone
there was due and owi ng to the

United States of Anerica substantial additional inconme tax.

(Title 26, United States Code, Section 7201.)

”/S/” __________
For eper son
”/S/” ”/S/” __________
JOEL |I. KLEIN MARY JO VWHI TE
Assi stant Attorney General United States Attorney
Antitrust D vision Sout hern District of New York
”/S/”

RALPH T. G ORDANO

Chi ef, New York Ofice
Antitrust Division

U. S. Departnent of Justice
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